## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OF THE VIDEOTAPE ON APPELLANT'S WIFE'S LAPTOP WHEN THE LAPTOP WAS GIVEN TO A COMPUTER TECHNICIAN TO REPAIR, WHERE LAW ENFORCEMENT HAPPENED TO BE AT THE TECHNICIAN'S HOUSE AND SAW A QUESTIONABLE IMAGE FLASH ACROSS THE LAPTOP COMPUTER, WHERE LAW ENFORCEMENT THEN DIRECTED THE TECHNICIAN TO PLAY THE VIDEO IN ITS ENTIRETY WITHOUT OBTAINING A SEARCH WARRANT, AND WHERE LAW ENFORCEMENT INSTRUCTED THE TECHNICIAN TO COPY THE VIDEO AND DELIVER TO ANOTHER OFFICER WHO ALSO WATCHED THE VIDEO WITHOUT A SEARCH WARRANT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 22, 2012, the Georgetown grand jury indicted Michael Cardwell on two counts of unlawful conduct towards a child and two counts of sexual exploitation of a minor, first degree. The case proceeded to trial in front of the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham on October 29, 2012. (R. p. 1). Eric Fox represented Mr. Cardwell and Candice Lively represented the State. (R. p. 2). On October 31, 2012, the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Cardwell guilty on all counts. (R. p. 200, l. 3—R. p. 201, l. 3). The court sentenced Mr. Cardwell to concurrent two-year sentences for the unlawful conduct toward a minor charges, and concurrent three-year sentences for the sexual exploitation of a minor charges. (R. p. 213, l. 11 – R. p. 214, l. 4). The court stated its purpose was for Mr. Cardwell to serve a total of five years. (R. p. 214, ll. 4-5). Additionally, Mr. Cardwell was required to register as a sexual offender. (R. p. 214, ll. 7-12).

## FACTS

Mr. Cardwell met Sarah Cardwell, who was then Sarah Young, at the end of 1988 or 1989 when he was a volunteer firefighter. (R. p. 119, ll. 9-14). They began dating in October 2006. (R. p. 122, ll. 4-5). At the time, she had three children from a prior relationship, Minor Child 1, Minor Child 2, and a newborn. (R. p. 122, ll. 6-10). Mr. Cardwell also had two children from a prior marriage (R. p. 122, ll. 11-16). Mr. Cardwell and Mrs. Cardwell moved in

together in 2006 and had a child together. (R. p. 123, ll. 21-25). They later married. (R. p. 117, l. 6).

On an evening in 2007, when Minor Child 1 was seven years old and his sister, Minor Child 2 was six years old, the two children took a bath and ran into the living room naked. (R. p. 113, l. 3, R. p. 126, ll. 7-13, R. p. 127, l. 2). Mr. Cardwell had just gotten home from work and had put on gym shorts. (R. p. 127, l. 2). As the children came out of the bathroom, they ran up to Mr. Cardwell and pulled his shorts down. (R. p. 127, ll. 16-18). Mrs. Cardwell pulled out a video camera and began filming the children and Mr. Cardwell. (R. p. 126, ll. 21-24).

Years later, in November of 2010, Mrs. Cardwell was having problems starting her laptop computer, so she dropped it off with computer technician, David Marsh to be repaired. (R. 47, ll. 6-10). The following month, Chief of Police for the City of Johnsonville, Ron Douglas, went over to David Marsh's business to drop off packages. (R. p. 73, ll. 22-25). When Mr. Marsh left the room to take the packages to the garage, Chief Douglas called Mr. Marsh back wanting to see an image that had just flashed across the screen of Mrs. Cardwell's laptop. (R. p. 49, l. 25—R. p. 50; l. 2). Chief Douglas asked Mr. Marsh about the image and Mr. Marsh explained that the computer was not his. (R. p. 74, ll. 21-25). Chief Douglas came into Mr. Marsh's house which also functioned as his office and asked him to "[p]lease back that up just a little bit." (R. p. 54, l. 10). At the time, Mr. Marsh was backing up information that was being downloaded from Mrs. Cardwell's computer. (R. p. 54, ll. 13-16). As he was backing up the files, he and Chief Douglas saw a still image on the screen of Minor Child 1, a male boy, in a pink bra with nothing else on. (R. p. 54, l. 19—R. p. 55, l. 1). At the top of the image was a play button, and Chief Douglas asked Mr. Marsh to play the video for him. (R. p. 55, ll. 4-9). Mr. Marsh and Chief Douglas viewed a minute of the video and saw Minor Child 1, Minor Child 2, and Mr. Cardwell

in the video. (R. p. 55, ll. 24-25). Chief Douglas later called Mr. Marsh and asked him to make a copy of the video onto a DVD. (R. p. 66, ll. 9-11). Chief Douglas did not have jurisdiction over Georgetown County, so he contacted the Georgetown Sheriff's Office to assist him. (R. p. 75, ll. 22-24, R. p. 80, ll. 16-22). Detective Phillip Hanna of the Georgetown Sheriff's Office was told that there were images of nude children on a computer that was being worked on by Mr. Marsh and they wanted him "to follow up on it to see if they – if it was, in fact, any kind of illegal pictures or videos." (R. p. 81, ll. 4-5). Chief Douglas told Mr. Marsh to copy the video onto a DVD and bring it with the laptop computer to the police department (R. p. 66, ll. 9-16). Upon Chief Douglas's request, Mr. Marsh brought the computer and the DVD over to Detective Hanna who took possession of the items on December 10, 2010. (R. p. 62, ll. 20-21, R. p. 68, ll. 11-15, R. p. 80, l. 22, R. p. 83, ll. 9-10). Detective Hanna viewed the video and contacted the Department of Social Services (DSS). (R. p. 85, l. 1, R. p. 86, ll. 6-7).<sup>1</sup>

Prior to trial, counsel for Mrs. Cardwell and Mr. Cardwell moved to suppress the video evidence due to an illegal search and seizure of the laptop computer by Chief Douglas. (R. p. 21, l.3 – R. p. 23, l.2). Counsel also argued a motion to suppress due to Detective Hannah's viewing the video and seizing the laptop without a search warrant. (R. p. 27, ll. 20-23). Counsel argued that Mrs. Cardwell had an expectation of privacy in her laptop computer as she had numerous personal pictures on it of her family and did not relinquish her expectation of privacy by asking Mr. Marsh to repair her laptop. (R. p. 21, l. 3—R. p. 25, l. 9). The trial court denied the motion, stating that Mrs. Cardwell had no expectation of privacy when she voluntarily gave the laptop over to Mr. Marsh, the computer was in plain view when Chief Douglas viewed the

---

<sup>1</sup> The record indicates that Detective Hanna received a search warrant to search the contents of the laptop computer. (R. p. 83, ll. 17-18). The record does not indicate that the same search warrant applied to the DVD handed to Detective Hanna by Mr. Marsh.

image, and there was no search and seizure because at the time the property was in the public domain. (R. p. 21, l. 16 – R. p. 28, l. 4). Defense counsel renewed the motion during trial, asking the trial court once again to suppress the video and anything that was on the computer due to the illegal searches and seizures by Chief Douglas and Detective Hannah. (R. p. 51, l. 19 – R. p. 52, l. 10, R. p. 74, ll. 9-11).<sup>2</sup> The trial court denied the motion again (R. p. 52, ll. 11-12, R. p. 74, ll. 12-13).

At the end of trial, Michael Cardwell was found guilty of all charges against him (R. p. 200, l. 14 – R. p. 201, l.3). Defense counsel unsuccessfully moved for a new trial. (R. p. 207, l. 16 – R. p. 208, l. 4). This appeal followed.

#### ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Cardwell's motion to suppress the video evidence because Mr. Cardwell had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the laptop computer and its contents and the plain view doctrine is not applicable.

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized." U.S. Const. amend IV. Accordingly, the Fourth Amendment protects citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures and requires evidence which is seized in violation of this protection to be excluded or suppressed at trial. State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 788 (2013). "The Fourth Amendment does not bar a search and

---

<sup>2</sup> Counsel for Mr. Cardwell joined in on the motion to suppress the video and the use of the laptop computer for illegal searches by Chief Douglas and Detective Hannah during Mr. Marsh's testimony at trial. The trial judge stated that he accepted any motion made generally as being made by both counsel (R. p. 52, ll. 16-21).

seizure, even an arbitrary one, effected by a private party on his own initiative. It does, however, bar evidence arising from such intrusions if the private party acted as an instrument or agent of the government.” State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (internal citation omitted).<sup>3</sup> “[T]he United States Supreme Court adopted the federal exclusionary rule to prevent the admission of evidence at trial that was unlawfully seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment and subsequently expanded that rule to apply to the individual states via the Due Process clause.” State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 482, 713 S.E.2d 324, 332 (Ct. App. 2011)

“A search compromises the individual interest in privacy; a seizure deprives the individual of dominion over his or her person or property.” State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012). Generally, searches and seizures performed without a warrant are unreasonable unless one of the following exceptions exist: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest, (2) hot pursuit, (3) stop and frisk, (4) automobile exception, (5) the plain view doctrine, (6) consent, and (7) abandonment. Id. at 89, 736 S.E.2d at 266. In this case, the trial court’s decision was clear error as Mr. Cardwell had a reasonable interest of privacy in the laptop and the video evidence did not fall within the plain view doctrine. See Narciso v. State, 397 S.C. 24, 32, 723 S.E.2d 369, 373 (2012) (“This Court will only reverse the circuit court’s decision on a motion to suppress when there is clear error.”). Accordingly, the trial court erred by not granting the motion to suppress and, as a result, Mr. Cardwell’s conviction should be reversed.

---

<sup>3</sup> Although the laptop was physically searched by Mr. Marsh, it was done so at the request of Chief Douglas, who, upon seeing a questionable image across the laptop while Mr. Marsh was out of the room, told Mr. Marsh, “I just saw something go across the screen, can you back it up.” (R. p. 54, ll. 1-3). Once Mr. Marsh found the file Chief Douglas requested, Chief Douglas asked Mr. Marsh to play the video for him. (R. p. 55, ll. 4-11). Therefore, this was not a private search as it was performed at the direction of law enforcement.

**I. The trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress all video evidence because Mr. Cardwell had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the laptop computer.**

First, Mr. Cardwell had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the laptop computer that was illegally searched and seized by Chief Douglas and Detective Hannah. “When a criminal defendant moves to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds, the trial court must first determine whether the defendant has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the searched premises.” State v. Bruce, 402 S.C. 621, 624, 741 S.E.2d 590, 592 (Ct. App. 2013). “A legitimate expectation of privacy is both subjective and objective in nature: the defendant must show (1) he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered, and (2) the expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable.” State v. Robinson, 396 S.C. 577, 583-84, 722 S.E.2d 820, 823 (Ct. App. 2012). “A reasonable expectation of privacy exists in property being searched when the defendant has a relationship with the property or property owner.” Id. at 584, 722 S.E.2d at 823. Additionally, it has been held that a person contesting the legality of a search due to lack of a search warrant only has to show that the state is attempting to introduce evidence against him. See State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 115, 352 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1987). Here, Mr. Cardwell has standing to contest the legality of the search of the laptop because, at the time the video was filmed, he had been dating Mrs. Cardwell and living with her since 2006, and they had a child together. (R. p. 109, l. 15—R. p. 110, l. 3, R. p. 122, l. 3—R. p. 123, l. 25). Additionally, the video was evidence that was being introduced against Mr. Cardwell at trial. See id. (“[O]ne contesting the legality of a search because of a defect under Section 17-13-140 need only show that the State is attempting to introduce the evidence against him.”).

Although this precise issue has not been addressed by South Carolina, other states have recognized an expectation of privacy in an electronic repository for personal data. See State v.

Ballard, 276 P.3d 976 (N.M. Ct. App. 2012) (stating “society will recognize an individual's expectation of privacy in a person's personal computer and external hard drives . . . [,]” but finding defendant relinquished privacy interest by specifically asking technician to destroy child pornography stored on his hard drives); United States v. Barth, 26 F. Supp. 2d 929 (W.D. Tex 1998) (finding “that the Fourth Amendment protection of closed computer files and hard drives is similar to the protection it affords a person's closed containers and closed personal effects.”); United States v. Chan, 830 F. Supp. 531, 534-35 (N. D. Cal. 1993) (finding the defendant’s expectation of privacy in a seized pager was analogous to the privacy right a person has in a closed container but still denying the motion to suppress because it was a valid search incident to arrest).

The facts of United States v. Barth are strikingly similar to the facts at issue in the case at hand. In Barth, the defendant was having difficulty with his computer so he sent it to a self-employed computer technician. Barth, 26 F. Supp. 2d at 932. As the technician was opening individual files in search of viruses, he observed a JPEG image which appeared to be child pornography. Id. The technician was also a confidential informant, and he immediately notified the FBI. Id. The FBI agent told the technician to copy the files on the hard drive onto disks. Id. at 932-33. The technician then took the hard drives to the local police department and informed the police that he had made a copy of the hard drive pursuant to the FBI agent’s instructions. Id. at 933. The officers obtained a search warrant to look at the hard drive based on the information obtained by the technician, rather than what they had observed. Id.

The district court in Barth found that while “the protection afforded to a person's computer files and hard drive is not well-defined . . . the Fourth Amendment protection of closed computer files and hard drives is similar to the protection it affords a person's closed containers

and closed personal effects.” Id. at 936. The court stated that a warrant is generally required to search the contents of a closed container, outside of automobile searches, due to the owner’s expectation of privacy in the contents of the container rather than the container itself. Id. Therefore, “by placing data in files in a storage device such as his hard drive, the Court [found] that Defendant manifested a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of those files. These files should therefore be afforded the full protection of the warrant requirement.” Id. at 936-37. The district court further explained that the defendant did not relinquish his reasonable expectation of privacy in his closed, individual files when he handed the hard drive over to a computer technician. Id. at 937. The district court compared this to a tenant who does not lose his expectation of privacy just because the landlord possesses the key and maintains a limited right to enter the premises for inspection and repair. Id. (citing United States v. Osunegbu, 822 F.2d 472, 478 (5th Cir.1987)).

Likewise, in this case, Mr. Cardwell did not lose his privacy interest in his wife’s laptop when she handed it over to Mr. Marsh for the limited purpose of being repaired. Instead, the computer and the pictures and images on the computer were comparable to a closed container as in Barth. The Cardwells used the laptop to store pictures from Christmas and birthday celebrations once the memory card in their digital camera was full. (R. p. 115, ll. 5-7). By placing these photos onto the laptop hard drive storage, like the plaintiff in Barth, Mr. Cardwell and his wife manifested a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of those files. Accordingly, the contents of the laptop computer should be afforded the full protection of the warrant requirement. See id. at 936-37.

**II. The trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress the video evidence because the plain view doctrine does not apply and a warrant was required prior to Chief Douglas and Detective Hanna viewing the video.**

Chief Douglas's insistence that Mr. Marsh play the video without first obtaining a warrant was in violation of the Fourth Amendment and does not fall under the plain view exception to warrantless searches. Detective Hanna's subsequent viewing of the illegally seized video was also in violation of the Fourth Amendment as no exception to the warrant requirement is applicable. Under the plain view doctrine, objects which are in the "plain view" of a law enforcement officer who is rightfully in a position to view the objects may be seized without a warrant. State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011). "[T]he two elements needed to satisfy the plain view exception are: (1) the initial intrusion which afforded the authorities the plain view was lawful and (2) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities." Id. The incriminating nature of the evidence was not immediately apparent to Chief Douglas or Detective Hannah. Both had the duty to obtain a search warrant before viewing the video. Their failure to do so violates the Fourth Amendment, and, therefore, Mr. Cardwell's conviction should be reversed.

In Walter v. United States, 447 U.S. 649 (1980), the Supreme Court stated that FBI agents were required to obtain a search warrant before they may screen obscene films that had been delivered to the wrong recipients. In Walter, twelve large, securely sealed packages of film depicting obscene activity were mistakenly delivered to the wrong recipient. Walter, 447 U.S. at 651. Employees of the mistaken recipient opened the box and unsuccessfully attempted to view the film by holding it up to the light. Id. at 652. The employees called the FBI who picked up the packages and, without obtaining a warrant, viewed the films with a projector. Id. The Supreme Court found the following:

Even though the cases before us involve no invasion of the privacy of the home, and notwithstanding that the nature of the contents of these films was indicated by descriptive material on their individual containers, we are nevertheless persuaded that the unauthorized exhibition of the films constituted an unreasonable invasion of their owner's constitutionally protected interest in privacy. It was a search; there was no warrant; the owner had not consented; and there were no exigent circumstances.

Id. at 654. The Court also found that the fact that a private party had already opened the boxes before they were acquired by the FBI did not excuse the failure to obtain a search warrant.

Id. at 655.

In this case, like in Walter, the incriminating nature of the computer file was not immediately apparent when Chief Douglas saw the image of Minor Child 1 flash across the laptop at Mr. Marsh's residence. Chief Douglas asked Mr. Marsh to manipulate the slideshow back to the image he saw go across the screen of the laptop when Mr. Marsh left the room. (R. p. 54, ll. 1-3). Upon seeing the image, Chief Douglas could have—and *should have*—obtained a search warrant before clicking the play button at the top of the image, but instead he directed Mr. Marsh to play the video (R. p. 55, ll. 8-11). Similar to the facts of Walter, the image Chief Douglas saw, while questionable, was not the video in its entirety. Instead, the image was a means of locating the video, or, like in Walter, similar to a label or description of the explicit video. Additionally, just as Chief Douglas had the duty to obtain a search warrant before asking Marsh to play the video; Detective Hanna, who only was told what was on the video and knew no search warrant had been issued, also had a duty to obtain a search warrant prior to watching the video. Their failure to do so was in violation of the Fourth Amendment, and as a result, the trial court should have applied the exclusionary rule to suppress the video evidence.

Moreover, the plain view doctrine does not excuse the warrantless search because that doctrine applies only to the *seizure* of evidence by law enforcement, not a *search* for evidence.

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