ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County
Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. _____

2012-213368

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Michael Lee Cardwell,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 02 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County
Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2012-212566

The State,

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress when Appellant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his girlfriend's computer and its data voluntarily turned over to a third party, and the third party placed the data on his own equipment and allowed that equipment to be searched.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress evidence of a video which formed the basis of the charges against Appellant and his co-defendant. Appellant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his co-defendant's computer when the record provides no evidence he used or had any control over the computer. Also, Appellant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in a computer and its data voluntarily turned over to a third party with instructions that the third party remove the data from the computer. Further, once the third party removed the data from the co-defendant's computer and placed it on his own computer, his consent to search the data on his own computer was valid and eliminated any need for a warrant. Finally, the contraband was seen in plain view and Appellant could not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in contraband.

In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see also, State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592 S.E.2d 344, 347 (Ct. App. 2004) ("On appeal from a suppression hearing, this court is bound by the circuit court's factual findings if any evidence supports the findings."). The appellate court will not

reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated. . . .” U.S. Const. amend. IV. This guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991).

Expectation of Privacy

When moving to suppress evidence on the basis of an alleged unreasonable search, the defendant has the burden of showing a legitimate expectation of privacy in the area searched. See United States v. Risher, 966 F.2d 868 (4th Cir. 1992); see also Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98 (1980) (declaring a legitimate expectation of privacy is necessary to trigger Fourth Amendment protections); State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987) (stating defendant who seeks to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds must demonstrate his “own rights” have been violated by showing he has a legitimate expectation of privacy in connection with the searched premises in order to challenge the search). “Since Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967), the touchstone of [Fourth] Amendment analysis has been the question whether a person has a ‘constitutionally protected reasonable expectation of privacy.’” Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177, 104 S.Ct. 1735, 1740–41, 80 L.Ed.2d 214 (1984) (quoting Katz, 389 U.S. at 360 (Harlan, J., concurring)).

As the United States Supreme Court stated in Alderman v. United States, 394 U.S. 165, 174 (1969): “Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights which, like some other constitutional rights, may not be vicariously asserted.” A person who is aggrieved by an illegal search and seizure only through the introduction of damaging evidence secured by a search of a third person’s premises or property has not had any of his Fourth Amendment rights infringed. Id. “And since the exclusionary rule is an attempt to effectuate the guarantees of the Fourth Amendment, United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 347, 94 S.Ct. 613, 619, 38 L.Ed.2d 561 (1974), it is proper to permit only defendants whose Fourth Amendment rights have been violated to benefit from the rule’s protections.” Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 133-134 (1978).

Thus,

in order to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment, a defendant must demonstrate that he personally has an expectation of privacy in the place searched, and that his expectation is reasonable; i.e., one that has “a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.”

Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88, 119 S.Ct. 469, 472, 142 L.Ed.2d 373 (1998) (quoting Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143–44 n. 12, 99 S.Ct. 421, 430 n. 12, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978)). A legitimate expectation of privacy is both subjective and objective in nature: the defendant must show (1) he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered, and (2) the expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable. Oliver, 466 U.S. at 177 (citing Katz, 389 U.S. at 361 (Harlan, J., concurring)).

In Katz v. United States, the United States Supreme Court explained: “For the Fourth Amendment protects people, not places. What a person knowingly exposes to the

public, even in his own home or office, is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection.” Katz, 389 U.S. at 351. This was further announced in United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435 (1976), when the Supreme Court found no protection for information turned over by a depositor at a bank. The court explained:

This Court has held repeatedly that the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit the obtaining of information revealed to a third party and conveyed by him to Government authorities, even if the information is revealed on the assumption that it will be used only for a limited purpose and the confidence placed in the third party will not be betrayed.

Id. at 443.

In Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 99 S. Ct. 2577, 61 L. Ed. 2d 220 (1979), the Supreme Court used the above analysis to hold that petitioner had no legitimate expectation of privacy when he used his phone to voluntarily convey the telephone number he was dialing to the telephone company and “‘exposed’ that information to its equipment in the ordinary course of business. In so doing, petitioner assumed the risk that the company would reveal to police the numbers he dialed.” Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 743 44, 99 S. Ct. 2577, 2582, 61 L. Ed. 2d 220 (1979).

In a case totally unrelated to technology, but analogous to the case at hand, the United States Supreme Court found a person did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in trash left for the trash collector because it was given to a third party. California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35, 40–41, 108 S.Ct. 1625, 100 L.Ed.2d 30 (1988) (finding no reasonable expectation of privacy in “plastic garbage bags left on or at the side of a public street,” which are accessible by “members of the public” and left on the curb “for the express purpose of conveying [them] to a third party, the trash collector”).

In the instant case, Appellant has no expectation of privacy in his co-defendant's laptop. The record does not indicate Appellant exercised any control over the laptop, had any possessory interest in the laptop, could exclude persons from using the laptop, or even used the laptop himself. His only claim regarding his expectation of privacy in his brief is the fact the State was using evidence against him and the fact his co-defendant put pictures and videos from her camera on the laptop. Neither basis is sufficient to establish a reasonable expectation of privacy in the computer and data belonging to Appellant's co-defendant.

He asserts he can challenge the search under State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 115, 352 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1987). However, the case specifically refutes Appellant's claims that he has an expectation of privacy and the ability to challenge the search and seizure of his co-defendant's computer. In McKnight, the South Carolina Supreme Court explained the difference between a challenge to the propriety of a search or seizure based on the Fourth Amendment, as was made in this case, and a challenge to a search or seizure based on an invalid or deficient search warrant as was at issue in McKnight.

The Court stated:

One who seeks to have evidence suppressed on this basis must establish that his *own* Fourth Amendment rights were violated. These are personal rights which may not be asserted vicariously. The defendant who seeks to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds must demonstrate a legitimate expectation of privacy in connection with the searched premises in order to have standing to challenge the search.

McKnight, 291 S.C. at 114-115, 352 S.E.2d at 473 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original). The Court then states:

On the other hand, the rights afforded by Section 17-13-140 are not dependent upon a showing of an expectation of privacy in the searched premises. The primary purpose of the statute is to insure the timely recording of the testimony upon which the judicial officer relied in issuing the warrant. However, the primary benefit of the statute “is to the person arrested or searched.” Therefore, one contesting the legality of a search because of a defect under Section 17-13-140 need only show that the State is attempting to introduce the evidence against him.

Id. at 115, 352 S.E.2d at 474 (emphasis added).

The Court in McKnight, notwithstanding Appellant’s contention to the contrary, made it clear Appellant must have an expectation of privacy and must show “his own” rights were violated prior to being able to raise a Fourth Amendment issue. In this case, there is no search warrant involved in the search and so section 17-13-140 does not apply and cannot provide Appellant standing. The record provides no basis for an expectation of privacy in the computer by Appellant, and he does not even attempt to argue one. As a result, he cannot contest the search, seizure, or admission of the data under the Fourth Amendment. See State v. Crane, 296 S.C. 336, 341, 372 S.E.2d 587, 589 (1988) (“Because appellant cannot make the threshold demonstration of a legitimate expectation of privacy in connection with the searched premises, he is not entitled to launch the constitutional challenge to the search.”)

Further, even if Appellant could have an expectation of privacy in his co-defendant’s laptop, Appellant did not have a subjective expectation of privacy or an expectation society would recognize as reasonable. Sarah, as the primary owner of the laptop, clearly had the right to convey the property to Marsh and even if he had a right in the property as a co-user, her conveyance eliminated any reasonable expectation of privacy he may have enjoyed. See e.g., State v. Moore, 377 S.C. 299, 659 S.E.2d 256 (Ct.

App. 2008) (finding regular driver of a vehicle could not complain about a violation or infringement of his interest in the vehicle when the owner of the vehicle consented to search).

Sarah voluntarily turned over her computer and all data on her computer to a third party, Marsh. She provided Marsh with no restrictions on how he was to repair the computer or files he could or could not view. She made no attempt to exclude his access from the video by placing it in a private folder or utilizing any means of encryption or password protection. See e.g., United States v. Barrows, 481 F.3d 1246, 1248–49 (10th Cir. 2007) (finding appellant's “failure to password protect his computer, turn it off, or take any other steps to prevent third-party use” indicative of a lack of a subjective expectation of privacy). Accordingly, Sarah and Appellant failed to maintain even a subjective expectation of privacy in the video once it was turned over to a third party.

Additionally, as discussed above, the Fourth Amendment does not find society willing to protect information turned over to a third party. Whether it is telephone records, bank records, trash, or computer data, once it is given to a third party the original possessor assumes the risk of something happening with that data, including it being given to law enforcement.

Other courts have reached similar conclusions when a computer is turned over to a technician and contraband is located on the computer. In Commonwealth v. Sodomsky, 939 A.2d 363 (Pa. Super. 2007), the court analyzed a similar situation. The defendant turned a computer over to Circuit City for repair and upgrades. In doing the work, the repairman viewed the beginning of a video appearing to contain child pornography. He called the police, who came and viewed the video file. The computer and its data were

seized. Id. at 364-366. The Court concluded because the defendant: “abandoned his privacy interest in the videos contained in the computer, he cannot object to the subsequent viewing of the video list and file by police.” Id. at 369. The Court continued:

Our result in this case is consistent with the weight of authority in this area. If a person is aware of, or freely grants to a third party, potential access to his computer contents, he has knowingly exposed the contents of his computer to the public and has lost any reasonable expectation of privacy in those contents. E.g. United States v. Simons, 206 F.3d 392 (4th Cir.2000) (where employee was informed that his work-related internet activity would be scrutinized by employer, he had no legitimate expectation of privacy in fruits of his internet activity as he knowingly exposed such activity to public); United States v. King, 2006 WL 3421253 (M.D.Ala.2006) (defendant knowingly exposed personal files to public under Katz by linking to network after being informed that personal files could and would be searched using network even though defendant attempted to protect files from network search); Lown v. State, 172 S.W.3d 753 (Tex.App.2005) (defendant did not have reasonable expectation of privacy in files on work computer which were backed up at request of people in authority at defendant's company).

Id. at 369-370.

In Rogers v. State, 113 S.W.3d 452 (Tex. App. 2003), the Court considered whether a defendant lost his expectation of privacy not only when he voluntarily turned over his computer to the repair shop for analysis, but also requested that files be backed up. The Court concluded in turning the computer over to the repair shop, and seeking to have the files backed up, the defendant “no longer had a legitimate expectation of privacy in those files, and the trial court did not err in denying Rogers’s motions to suppress.” Id. at 458.

Significantly, the Rogers court also distinguished United States v. Barth, 26 F.Supp.2d 929 (W.D. Tex. 1998), which is a case relied on by Appellant. In Barth, the

Court found the defendant did not give up his expectation of privacy when he turned over a hard drive to a repairman. In Barth, the defendant gave the hard drive to the technician “for the limited purpose of repairing a problem unrelated to specific files and also expected that he would have the unit back the following morning to continue his business.” Id. at 937. The Rogers court found its circumstances clearly distinguishable because the defendant in Rogers asked the repairman to back up the files and not just fix a generic problem. Rogers, 113 S.W.3d at 457.

In United States v. Barrows, 481 F.3d 1246 (10th Cir. 2007), the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals found mere ownership is not enough to establish and maintain a subjective expectation of privacy in a computer. The Court concluded when the defendant connected his personal computer to a public computer network to share files, he exposed his computer to the public and no longer had an expectation of privacy. Id. at 1248-1249.

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Alabama undertook an exhaustive analysis of a situation very similar to the one in the instant case in Melton v. State, 69 So.3d 916 (2010). In that case, the defendant took his computer to Best Buy to have viruses removed and the computer repaired. Id. at 922-923. The Court found persuasive the analysis of Sodomsky discussed above. Further, the Court found that even though the Best Buy employees only viewed highly graphic file names indicating their contents were child pornography, the fact the officers opened the files did not violate any Fourth Amendment rights. Id. at 928. The Court concluded, relying in part on United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109 (1984), that nothing more was learned from viewing the files based on the name. Further, the Court held once the files were determined to be child

pornography from their filenames, there was no constitutional protection in the contraband. Id. at 928-929. Finally, the Court concluded there was no expectation of privacy society was prepared to recognize at the time the officers viewed the file names and the contents of any of the files. Id. at 931.

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